
 
 

 
 
 
WEDNESDAY, 13 MARCH 2024 
 
 
TO: THE CABINET MEMBER FOR TRANSPORT, WASTE AND 
INFRASTRUCTURE SERVICES 
 
I HEREBY SUMMON YOU TO ATTEND A VIRTUAL MEETING OF 
THE CABINET MEMBER FOR TRANSPORT, WASTE AND 
INFRASTRUCTURE SERVICES WHICH WILL BE HELD AT 10.00 
AM, ON TUESDAY, 19TH MARCH, 2024 FOR THE 
TRANSACTION OF THE BUSINESS OUTLINED ON THE 
ATTACHED AGENDA. 
 
 

Wendy Walters 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

 

 
Democratic Officer: Julie Owens 
Telephone (direct line): 01267 224088 
E-Mail: juowens@carmarthenshire.gov.uk 
 

Wendy Walters Prif Weithredwr, Chief Executive, 
Neuadd y Sir, Caerfyrddin. SA31 1JP 
County Hall, Carmarthen. SA31 1JP 

 
 
 

Document Pack



 
 

 
 

A G E N D A   
  

1. DECLARATIONS OF PERSONAL INTEREST   
 

2. TO SIGN AS A CORRECT RECORD THE DECISION RECORD 
OF THE MEETING HELD ON THE 7TH FEBRUARY 2024  

3 - 4 

 
3. STOPPING UP APPLICATION AT GILFACH IAGO  5 - 12 

 
 
 
Note:- The  press and public are not entitled to attend the meeting. The decision record will 
be published normally within 3 working days. 



 
 

CABINET MEMBER FOR TRANSPORT, WASTE AND 
INFRASTRUCTURE SERVICES 

 
WEDNESDAY, 7 February 2024 

 
PRESENT: Councillor: E.G. Thomas (Cabinet Member). 
 
The following officers were in attendance: 
T. Evans, Transport Planner - Strategy and Infrastructure 
E. Bryer, Democratic Services Officer 
 
Cabinet Member Office & Remote - County Hall, Carmarthen. SA31 1JP. - 2.00  - 2.00 
pm 
 
1. DECLARATIONS OF PERSONAL INTEREST 

 
There were no declarations of personal interest. 
 

2. TO SIGN AS A CORRECT RECORD THE DECISION RECORD OF THE 
MEETING HELD ON THE 9TH JANUARY, 2024 
 
RESOLVED that the decision record of the meeting of the Cabinet Member 
for Transport, Waste and Infrastructure Services held on the 9th January, 
2024 be signed as a correct record. 
 

3. INTRODUCTION OF PROPOSED SPEED HUMPS AT PONTHENRI 
 
The Cabinet Member considered a report which sought approval on proposals to 
introduce a road top hump on (B4317) Myrtle Hill.  This hump was put forward as 
part of a series of measures to slow traffic speeds and enhance pedestrian safety 
throughout the village of Ponthenri. 
  
It is a statutory requirement to advertise proposals for road humps for public 
comment and objection. The proposals for Ponthenri received one objection from 
one household. 
  
The report outlined that Myrtle Hill was a well-used residential road that connects 
Ponthenri with Pontyberem to the North. The section where the hump is planned 
to be located was detailed as being at the bottom of a steep hill that leads directly 
into the most densely populated area of this section of Ponthenri.  Since 17th 
September 2023 the road had been reduced to a 20mph limit and there were 
Driver Feedback Signs (DFS) located at certain points along the road to remind 
drivers of their current speed. 
  
It was noted, there had been longstanding concerns from the local community 
regarding inappropriate vehicle speeds along the road. Something that was voiced 
during public consultations events for the development of the Safe Routes in 
Communities funding bid and supported by the local member during ongoing 
discussions. 
  

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



 
 

The Cabinet Member considered the content of the report which provided detailed 
information in relation to the following:- 
  

         Traffic Calming Proposal – Funding 
         Traffic Calming Proposal – Current Design 
         Objections 
         Traffic Speed Surveys 

  
The Cabinet Member considered eleven objections received from one household 
which had been received during the statutory consultation period by the Council’s 
Head of Administration and Law as provided within the report together with the 
officer responses thereto.  The Cabinet Member was provided the opportunity to 
view the full copies of the objections received.  
  
RESOLVED that the objections be noted and that the traffic calming scheme 
with the inclusion of all the road humps/plateaus as listed in the report be 
introduced.  
 
 
 
 
 

 
__________________________    __________________ 
CABINET MEMBER     DATE 
 
 

Page 4



 

CABINET MEMBER DECISIONS MEETING FOR 
TRANSPORT, WASTE AND INFRASTRUCTURE 

SERVICES 

 
19/03/2024 

 
Cabinet Member: Portfolio: 
Cllr. Edward Thomas Transport, Waste and Infrastructure Services 

 
STOPPING UP APPLICATION AT GILFACH IAGO 

 
Purpose: 
 
To approve the Stopping Up of the unclassified roads at the former opencast coal site known 
as Gilfach Iago between the communities of Penygroes, Blaenau and Saron with the 
reservation of rights for walking, cycling and horse riding i.e. Bridleway Rights. 
 

Recommendations / key decisions required: 
 
Recommend to the Head of Administration and Law whether it would be appropriate to proceed 
with the Stopping Up of a length of public highway with rights reserved for walking, cycling and 
horse riding i.e. Bridleway Rights under Section 116 Highways Act 1980 (4). 
 
Reasons:  
 
Recommend to the Head of Administration and Law whether it would be appropriate to proceed 
with the Stopping Up of a length of public highway with rights reserved for walking, cycling and 
horse riding i.e. Bridleway Rights under Section 116 Highways Act 1980 (4). 
 
 
Directorate 
Name of Head of Service: 
Daniel W John 

Designation 
Head of 
Environmental 
Infrastructure 

Tel No. 
DWJohn@carmarthenshire.gov.uk 

Report Author: 
Louise Tovey 

E Mail Address: 
caltovey@carmarthenshire.gov.uk 

 
  

Page 5

Agenda Item 3

mailto:DWJohn@carmarthenshire.gov.uk
mailto:caltovey@carmarthenshire.gov.uk


 

Declaration of Personal Interest (if any): 
None 
 
 
 

Dispensation Granted to Make Decision (if any): 
N/A 
(If the answer is yes exact details are to be provided below:) 
 
 
 
 
 

DECISION MADE: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Signed:  
____________________________________________________________DATE:_______ 
                                                                   CABINET MEMBER  
 

 
 
Recommendation of Officer 
adopted 

YES / NO 
 

Recommendation of the Officer 
was adopted subject to the 
amendment(s) and reason(s) 
specified: 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Reason(s) why the Officer’s 
recommendation was not 
adopted: 

 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 6



 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 

Request to execute a Stopping Up order at the former Opencast Site known as 
Gilfach Iago between the communities of Penygroes, Blaenau and Saron. 

Following the approval at CMT on 28th September 2021 to progress the completion of public 
access reinstatement works at Gilfach Iago, the former opencast site; and approving the 
proposal to apply to the Magistrates Court as part of the legal processes involved, an 
application to stop up the highway is being progressed. A sum of money has recently been 
received from Celtic Energy Ltd (£320k), with the understanding that this will fund the 
reinstatement of public access across the former site. Additionally, it is being considered 
whether the route can be made Active Travel compliant in part or full. This will be investigated 
via a feasibility study 23/24.    
 
The area of public highway would be stopped up by way of Order at Magistrates Court under 
Section 116 of the Highways Act 1980 subject to the reservation of bridleway rights (Section 
116(4)), use of which is for pedestrians, horse riders and pedal cyclists.   
 
An application under Section 116 of the Highways Act 1980 can only be made on one of two 
grounds, the length of the highway is ‘unnecessary’ or that there is a more commodious route 
for the public. 
It is for the Highways Authority to determine whether to proceed with the legal process of a 
stopping up. However, if the highways authority agrees to proceed with the application, the 
decision as to whether a stopping up is successful or not will be determined at a hearing by 
the Magistrates Court. The Court will take into consideration several factors including the legal 
appropriateness that the applicant is applying under and the outcome from the statutory public 
consultation that will be undertaken. As a Highway’s Authority, we would be presenting the 
case on the basis that we are satisfied that it passes the relevant tests i.e. unnecessary or 
more commodious route and is therefore no longer required as part of the public highway. 
The reason given for this proposal would be on the grounds that the public highway rights for 
motor vehicles along the highway lengths identified are deemed unnecessary and are no 
longer needed. 
 
As part of the initial consultation process, letters were sent to landowners in June 2023 to 
allow them to engage with us and come forward with any comments (2 weeks were given to 
respond). 
No objections have been received to date from the landowners. One landowner response was 
received querying how keeping the bridleway rights reserved may affect their land. Cllr Peter 
Cooper has also followed up on behalf of the landowner setting out points for clarification in 
relation to consultation and funding both of which have been responded to. Additionally, there 
have been no objections from internal departments or statutory consultees including local 
members, emergency services and utility companies with potential for having apparatus within 
the area.  
 
 
 
 

Page 7



 

  

 
To complete the Gilfach Iago programme/scheme, the stopping up process will satisfy the first 
step. Following the approval at magistrates (should this be successful), the second part will 
involve the length of roads that have been stopped up (with the bridleway rights reserved) 
being added to the Public Rights of Way definitive map and statement to complete the 
reclassification of this length;  CCC Countryside Access team will subsequently have the 
powers to divert the routes to fit with the relief of the restored land and other public paths in 
the vicinity. Furthermore, there is a separate feasibility study which will be undertaken by our 
internal design consultancy via funding from Active Travel Core 23/24 to identify if the scheme 
outlined can be made Active Travel complaint in line with current Active Travel Guidance and 
Active Travel Act (2013).  
 
In summary, the highway rights will be extinguished for motor vehicles only, with rights 
remaining for pedestrians, cyclists and horse riders. The reinstatement of public access would 
be beneficial for the communities of Blaenau, Saron and Penygroes to enjoy once more, 
given that the area was an operational mining area for many years under Celtic Energy. 
Opening this part of the network for the public will connect to the existing footpath network 
that already exists in the area, strengthening connections between the communities and 
supporting the wider network including Active Travel aspirations between Ammanford and 
Cross Hands.  
 
It is requested that a decision is made as a Local Highway Authority as to whether to proceed 
with the Order given the outline case above.  
 

DETAILED REPORT ATTACHED? NO 
(Plan attached referencing location/area of public highway to be 

stopped up) 

Page 8



 

IMPLICATIONS 
 

I confirm that other than those implications which have been agreed with the appropriate Directors 
/ Heads of Service and are referred to in detail below, there are no other implications associated 
with this report : 
 
Signed:   D W John                                                                 Head of Environmental Infrastructure  
  

 
Policy,  
Crime & 
Disorder 
and 
Equalities 
 

Legal  Finance  ICT  Risk 
Manage-
ment Issues  

Staffing 
Implications  

Physical 
Assets   

Bio- 
diversity & 
Climate 
Change 
 

NONE 
 

YES  
 

YES  
 

NONE  
 

NONE  
 

NONE  
 

YES  
 

NONE 
 

 
1. Legal   
An application to stop up a highway has to follow a defined process and under the 
Highways Act 1980 can only be made on two grounds, namely the length of highway is 
unnecessary or that there is a more commodious route. There is an initial consultation 
process to be undertaken by the Environment Department which includes (inter alia) 
corresponding with the Community Council seeking its views on the proposal.  
Should the Cabinet Member consent be forthcoming, there is then a requirement to make 
an application to the Magistrates Court to seek an Order pursuant to section 116 of the 
Highways Act 1980 to stop-up the highway (as highlighted above, with rights reserved for 
walkers, cyclists and horse riders, Section 116 (4)). It will be necessary for an officer from 
the Authority to present evidence at the hearing advising why the application is appropriate 
and that the granting of the Order is necessary.   
 

 
2. Finance   

The stopping up will carry a financial implication met by CCC to administer the order with 
a payment of £2500 being required and drawn down from budget set aside for the 
Gilfach Iago programme. 

 
3.  Physical Assets   

If the stopping up is granted by the magistrates’ court, the land will still be public highway 
but will no longer contain rights for motor vehicles. The maintenance and liability of the 
public highway however will still be for CCC to fulfil. 

 

Page 9



 

 
CONSULTATIONS 

 
 
I confirm that the appropriate consultations have taken in place and the outcomes are as detailed below 
 
Signed:   D W John                                                                 Head of Environmental Infrastructure  
 

 
1. Scrutiny Committee – N/A 
 
2.Local Member(s)   
Cllr. Dai Thomas – no objection 
Cllr. Peter Cooper – no objection – follow up query responded to as confirmed above. 
Cllr. Karen Davies – no objection 
3.Community / Town Council  
Dai Nicholas, Llandybie Community Council – no objection 
 
4.Relevant Partners   
CCC Area Manager – no objection 
CCC Countryside Access Manager – no objection 
CCC Road Safety & Traffic Management Manager – no objection 
CCC Highways Services Manager – no objection 
CCC Public Lighting Manager – no objection 
CCC Modernisation in Transport Coordinator – no objection  
 
5.Staff Side Representatives and other Organisations  N/A 
 

 

Section 100D Local Government Act, 1972 – Access to Information 
List of Background Papers used in the preparation of this report: 
 
THERE ARE NONE   
 

 
 

 

Page 10



Track

D
rain

Drain

Drain

Drain

Drain

Drain

PAR
C

 Y M
YN

YD
D

HEOL SARON

106.3m

SARON ROAD

C
EFN

C
R

U
G

107.9m

112.2m

Drain

Pond

Path (um
)

Shaft

Drain

Issues

ED BdyCH

Pond

Track

Def

Track

Penygarn

Ael y Bryn

12

Blaenau-mawr

164

156

145

133b

152

135

139

Recreation Ground

19

14

15

5

17

1

8

6

6

146

111

128

125

138

1

134

129 131

108

97

108a
110

El Sub Sta

11
6

12
4

HEO
L FACH

Shaft

TCB

LB

B4556

Wind Turbine

Track

Def

Drain

Drain

ED Bdy

4

The

38

Drys
lwyn Fach 2

Willows

6

G
olygfa H

ardd

Bryn Cellan

Pen-y-C
ae

10

Bryncoed

Rose Villa

14

8

Bach

Plas

Oakview

H
en G

artref

Track

Pond
Issues

Drain

Path (um
)

Issues

Ford

Track

SARON ROAD

Drain

Track

Drain

Pond

Pond

D
rain

Brynawelon

YR HAFOD

SARON ROAD

CLOS NANT-Y-C
I

NANT-Y-CI R
OAD

P

Drain

SARON ROAD
HEOL SARON

TCB

LB

Issues

D
rain

175

St David's Church

179

142

140

181

144

1

23

TudorLodge

15

154

15
8

11

Shelter

Amory

14

13

12

7

14

8

5

205

10

35

11

8

House Hendre

2

5

25

59

5

7

6

-Helyg
Maes-yr

16
4

14

13

16
8

1

Nant-y-Dderwen

2

1
2

184

194

13

196

179

1

17
2

215

211

17
0

47

48

52

43

41

39

33

27

24

Gwaun-rhedegfa

32

23

20

26

Llys Celyn

15

178

174 to 176

169

Shelters

171

180

175

170

(PH)

Colliers'

168

Arms

Hall

165

161

Hall

166

PW

163a153

149

Well

76.2m

Nant-y-wrach

Sinks

CS

LB

Gate

Pond

Def

SARON ROAD

Sl

Sports Field

97.2m

Playground

PENYGROES ROAD

LB

96.0m

WB

CS

ED Bdy

Pont y Blodau

Nant y Wrach

Issues

Pontyblodau

Ponds

Pond

PANTYBLODAU ROAD

Drain

Drain

Track

Drain

Issues

Track

CS

Coal Yard
Def

Track

118.0m

107.0m

bach

Cwm-

161

165b

165a 165d

165c

130

169

Ty Brynteg

Primary School

126

Blaenau County

Hall

Club

2

120

122

141

151

Brookside

Gelli

Siden y Waun

Yr Os

Haf

1

21

Pen

Blodau

Llys y

15

yGarreg

10
0

125

123

121

123a

10
4

127

119

10
2

Arhosyn

28a

26

28

38
32

35

113

The Ilex

Felin Wen

111

102

94

109

105

115

84

107

89

52

Blaenau Fuel Depot

73

48

71

Glan-y-Nant

Ty Peniel

70

76

72

Chapel

67

66

77

73

Tanks

51

C
lw

ydfryn

Tegfryn

50

53

40

58

48

Derwen-fach

C Y M U N E D  L L E O L  L L A N D Y B I E
L O C A L  C O M M U N I T Y  O F  L L A N D Y B I E

FP 51/31

FP 51/36

FP 51/30

FP 51
/36

FP 51/37

FP
 5

1/
35

FP 51/33

FP
 5

1/
31

C Y M U N E D  L L E O L  L L A N D Y B I E
L O C A L  C O M M U N I T Y  O F  L L A N D Y B I E

FP 51/30

FP 51/37

FP
 5

1/
38

FP 51/38

FP
 51

/39
FP 51/39

FP 51/41

FP 51/41

FP 51/14

C Y M U N E D  L L E O L  L L A N D Y B I E
L O C A L  C O M M U N I T Y  O F  L L A N D Y B I E

FP 51/26

FP 51/45

FP 51
/27

FP
 5

1/
27

FP 51/42

FP 51/42

FP 51/42

FP 51/42

FP 51/58

Saron

Blaenau

C2136

C21
36

B4556

B4556

U4361

U9015

U4361

W6339

C2130

C2130

W
6339

ORIGINAL DRAWING FORMAT     A1

Proposed Stopping Up at Gilfach Iago former Opencast Site between  Penygroes, Saron and Blaenau subject
to the reservation of bridleway rights

Adrian Harries B.Eng (Hons). C.Eng, M.I.C.E
Rheolwr Gwasanauethau Dylunio Proffesiynol
Professional Design Services Manager,

Adran Amgylchedd, Bloc 1,
Parc Myrddin, Waun Dew,
Caerfyrddin
Sir Caerfyrddin       SA31 1HQ

Environment Department, Block 1,
Parc Myrddin, Richmond Terrace,
Carmarthen,
Carmarthenshire           SA31 1HQ

Made By

-

J.I.P 06/04/23

1/2500
80/0080/806

Scale

Date Checked Date Authorised Date

Project no.

Drawing no. Revision

SUP/GA1

© Hawlfraint y Goron a hawliau cronfa ddata 2023
Arolwg Ordnans 100023377

© Crown copyright and database rights 2023
Ordnance Survey 100023377

Status
---- ISSUED FOR THE PURPOSE SHOWN ONLY

REV DATE REVISION DESCRIPTION REV BY CHECKED DATE CH'DProject

10080604020020
Metres

SCALE 1:2500

200

J.I.P 06/04/23 V.P 25/05/23

P
age 11



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 TO SIGN AS A CORRECT RECORD THE DECISION RECORD OF THE MEETING HELD ON THE 7TH FEBRUARY 2024
	3 STOPPING UP APPLICATION AT GILFACH IAGO
	Plan
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1




